IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 76,061

SID J. WHITE NOV 8 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Ву⊸ Chief Deputy Clark

FILED

VERNON AMOS,

Appellant,

v.

I

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BERT WINKLER, ESQUIRE Attorney for the Appellant 2001 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 503 West Palm Beach, FL 33409 (407)697-8311 Florida Bar No: 336076

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PRECLUDING APPELLANT FROM CONSULTING WITH HIS COUNSEL DURING TRIAL WHICH VIOLATED APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

POINT II

TRIAL COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO SILENCE BY ALLOWING PROSECUTOR TO COMMENT UPON APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO OFFER EXCULPATORY STATEMENTS PRIOR TO TRIAL.

<u>POINT III.</u>

THE ERRONEOUS EXCLUSION OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS FOR CAUSE ON THE BASIS OF THEIR OBJECTIONS TO THE DEATH PENALTY, VIOLATED **APPELLANT'S** RIGHT TO **A** FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY GUARANTEED BY THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION TO STRIKE A GROUP OF TEN PROSPECTIVE JURORS WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR AND DENIED APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN, DURING JURY SELECTION, IT MISSTATED THE LAW ON **FELONY** MURDER.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY LIMITING APPELLANT'S RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION ON **A** MATTER RAISED BY THE STATE DURING RE-CROSS EXAMINATION

POINT VII

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT AN INQUIRY INTO THE COIWETENCY OF A STATE WITNESS

POINT VIII

THE TRIAL COINCT ERRED BY NOT PERMITTING APPELLANT'S DEFENSE ATTORNEY TO COMMENT, DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT, ON THE PROSECUTION'S FAILURE TO CALL A WITNESS WHERE APPELLANT HAD IN FACT CALLED THAT WITNESS ON DIRECT EXAMINATION DURING APPELLANT'S CASE IN CHIEF.

POINT IX

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE STATE TO OFFER INTO EVIDENCE SEVERAL GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPHS AND SLIDES OF THE VICTIMS **WHERE** THE PREJUDICIAL EFFECT OUTWEIGHED ANY PROBATIVE VALUE

POINT X

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION ON MERE PRESENCE.

POINT XI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION ON THE LIMITED USE OF REBUTTAL EVIDENCE

POINT XII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DIRECT A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AT THE CLOSE OF THE STATE'S CASE AND AT THE CLOSE OF THE DEFENSE CASE BASED UPON THE INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE.

POINT XIII

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED BY NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S PRO SE MOTION FOR DISQUALIFICATION

POINT XIV

FLORIDA STATUTE 921.141 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

POINT XV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING IMPROPER AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN ITS SENTENCE OF DEATH

A. THE DEATH SENTENCE MUST BE VACATED BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE DID NOT PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING OR PREVENTING A LAWFUL ARREST

B. THE DEATH SENTENCE MUST BE VACATED BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DOUBLED TWO AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES

C. THE DEATH SENTENCE MUST BE VACATED BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED DID NOT **PROVE** BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT **THE** CAPITAL FELONY FOR WHICH **THE** APPELLANT WAS SENTENCED TO DEATH WAS COMMITTED FOR PECUNIARY GAIN

D. THE DEATH SENTENCE MUST BE VACATED BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED DID NOT DEMONSTRATE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE CRIME WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER WITHOUT ANY PRETENSE OF MORAL OR LEGAL JUSTIFICATION

POINT XVI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING APPELLANT TO DEATH AS THE DEATH PENALTY IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DISPROPORTIONAL PUNISHMENT AS APPLIED TO THIS CASE IN REGARD TO THE CULPABILITY OF APPELLANT

POINT XVII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING APPELLANT TO **DEATH** IN **AN** ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS AND UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DISPROPORTIONATE MANNER WHEN APPELLANT WAS SENTENCED TO LIFE **IMPRISONMENT** IN COUNT I

POINT XVIII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY DURING THE SENTENCING HEARING (PHASE 11) AS TO THE DEFINITION OF THE FELONIES BY WHICH IT WAS ALLEGED THAT AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES SET FORTH IN FLORIDA STATUTE 921.141(5)(e)(d) WERE PRESENT.

POINT XIX

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PENALTY PHASE; IN REFUSING TO APPOINT NEW COUNSEL FOR THE PENALTY PHASE; AND, IN NOT ALLOWING APPELLANT SUFFICIENT TIME TO PREPARE AFTER FORCING APPELLANT TO REPRESENT HIMSELF AT TIE PENALTY PHASE.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Defendant in the trial court, Vernon Amos, will hereinafter be referred to as Appellant. The prosecution below, the State of Florida, will hereinafter be referred to as Appellee.

References to the Record on Appeal will be referred to by use of the symbol "R", followed by the appropriate page numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a direct appeal by Appellant, Vernon Amos, from two first degree murder convictions and sentence of death and **six** related non-capital felonies and sentences of imprisonment. (R 6559-60, 6669-90). The trial was in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County, Florida.

The relevant facts are as follows: One June 12, 1986, two males entered a Mr. Grocer convenience store located at the corner of Gun Club Road and Military Trail in West Palm Beach, Florida, One of the two men, described as the taller of two black males, walked over to the store coolers. The shorter of the two men went to the counter to purchase cigarettes. (R-4961). The store clerk, Alan McAninch, was behind the counter and an acquaintance of McAninch, Terry Howard, was also in the store, standing near the store doors. (R-4958, 61). As the shorter male, later identified as Vernon Amos, was paying for the cigarettes, the taller male, later identified as Leonard Spencer, placed a soda on the counter and walked toward the doors. (R-4962-3). At that point, Spencer grabbed Terry Howard and put a gun to Howard's side. (R-4964). Spencer told Howard to get down on the ground. (R-4965). As Howard complied, and was face down on the floor, a gunshot was fired. (R-4966). Howard did not know which of the men had fired the shot. (R-4966).

Terry Howard heard a voice say "Open the cash register", (R-4967). Howard was not certain if he heard one or two voices that

evening. (R-4989-90). At no point did witness Howard ever see the smaller black male with a gun. (R-4987). Nor did he hear any conversation between the two black men. (R-4969). One of the men went over to Terry Howard and demanded the keys to his car and his wallet and then shot striking him once in each arm. (R-4972-3).

State witness **Bobby** Helvey, Jr. was in the parking lot of the Mr. Grocer and witnessed the two black males get into a yellow Ford (R-5059). He observed the shorter of the two men enter on the driver's side and the taller man enter on the passenger side.

At approximately 12:10 AM on the same evening a second killing occurred outside of a bar called the English Pub located approximately one mile north of the Mr. Grocer's store. John Foster was the state's only witness. (R-5144). Foster was a passenger in a pickup truck which pulled into the English Pub parking lot. (R-5147). Upon pulling into the English Pub parking lot, Foster observed a tall black male and a white male fighting. (R-5148). Foster stated that they appeared to be fighting over something in their hands. (R-5151). The other male, the shorter of the two, was standing on the other side of the truck. (R-5159). While the tall black male and the white male were fighting, a shot was fired and the white male fell forward. (R-5160). Foster told detectives what he had seen but could not identify either of the black males. (R-5167). The taller of the males attempted to start the truck while the other got in the passenger The white male, Robert Bragman, was shot in the head and side. later died. (R-5353).

State's witness, Alan Sedenka, **was** driving north in the area of the English Pub. (R-5178). The witness had heard the report of a shooting at the English Pub over his police scanner. (R-5178). After passing the English Pub, Sedenka saw two black males coming out of the wooded area, walking north along Military Trail. (R-5179). The taller of the black males came up to \$edenka's vehicle and put a gun to \$edenka's head while the shorter of the black males remained at the front of the vehicle. (R-5190). The taller black male stated to Sedenka, "You are going to drive us." The other black male stated to Sedenka "Do what he says or he will shoot you." (R-5191). Both black males got into \$edenka's vehicle and started to pull out of the lot. They stopped, switched seats and then drove away. (R-5196).

Approximately two hours later Vernon **Amos** was located in a junked car in a junk yard and was thereupon arrested by sheriff's deputies. (R-5279). **Amos** proceeded to give a lengthy statement to detectives only a portion of which was tape recorded. (R-5631). Prior to making a statement, **Amos** was promised by Sergeant Dowdell of the Belle Glade Police Department that if **Amos** cooperated with the Sheriff's office, he would not receive the death penalty. (R-5644). Vernon Amos' statement was suppressed after a Motion to Suppress was filed and the state agreed not to use the statement in their case in chief. (R-5644).

On July 15, 1986, a grand jury indictment was filed against Leonard Spencer and Vernon **Amos** charging two counts of first degree murder and related felonies. (R-6060). In October of 1986, a jury

trial commenced with both Spencer and Amos in which they were convicted on all counts and received the death penalty. In October 1989 on appeal to this court, both Amos and Spencer's of convictions and sentences were overturned and the case remanded for a new trial, See Spencer v. State, 545 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 1989). and Amos v. State, 545 \$0,2d 1352 (Fla. 1989). In October of 1989, a second trial commenced for both defendants in which resulted in a hung jury for both on October 20, 1989. In November, 1989 a third trial of both Amos and Spencer commenced in which Spencer was convicted on all counts. The case against Amos resulted in a hung On January 23, 1990 this trial jury on December 1, **1989.** commenced. (R-4469). During voir dire of the jury venire, several members of the panel were stricken for cause by motion of state based upon their objections to the death penalty. (R-4491-2, 4511, 4514, 4542, 4554, 4583-4, 4590-1, 4600, 4615-6, 4739-45, 4756-8, and 4760-1) Of those jurors stricken for cause, three had stated that under certain circumstances they could recommend the death penalty. The colloquy between the court, the attorneys, and the jurors was as follows:

The Court:	Hi Louis. How do you feel about the death penalty?
Mr. Vers:	I don't think I could -
The Court:	Talk loud.
Mr. Vers:	I don't think I could impose the death penalty or impose the death penalty or recommend it.
The Court:	You don't impose -
Mr. Vers:	Recommend it.

The Court: Why?

Mr. Vers: I don't know. I really never thought about it, until just this moment. And that is the feeling 1 have.

The Court: Well are you just a gentle person, or -

- Mr. Vers: I just have a feeling. I honestly never thought about it before. And that is the feeling I get.
- The Court: You are telling me, no matter what the facts of the case are, you are never going to vote for death?
- Mr. Vers: I don't think 1 could.
- Ms. Duggan: Motion.
- The Court: Do you want to ask him anything?
- Mr. Boudreau: Mr. Vers, you say you don't think you could vote for death, but the questions really is if you are put on the jury and the man is found guilty of first degree murder and you go to that Phase 11, and you find out that there is all these terrible aggravating factors and nothing in mitigation, just a grievous crime, do you think you can recommend the death penalty? That is what the law directs you to do.
- Mr. Vers: I don't know. I guess if it really was an outrageous crime, I guess I could. Right now, my feeling is that I can't.
- Mr. Boudreau: Of course, you think about examples that are worse in the past that warranted it.
- Ms. Duggan: Objection.
- The Court: Sustained.
- Mr, Boudreau: Based on that, I object to this motion.

The Court: I am going to grant the motion.

Thereupon Mr. Vers was dismissed.

(R-4739-45).

The following colloquy took place with Juror Fitzsimmons:

- The Court: How do you feel about the death penalty?
- Mr. Fitzsimmons: I am opposed to the death penalty.

The Court: Talk a little louder.

Mr. Fitzsimmons; I am opposed to the death penalty.

The Court: The next question is: How opposed? There are some people who are so opposed to the death penalty that, no matter what, they will have nothing to do with the death penalty.

There are other people who say, look, we are opposed to it; we still have to live and operate within a system; any system we operate within will have the laws that we disagree with, but we obey those laws: we enforce those laws: we will vote for those laws, even though we disagree with them in an appropriate case. Where do you fall in that respect?

Mr. Fitzsimmons: Generally, I am opposed. Under some circumstances, I could seemyself choosing that.

The Court: Let me go a little deeper. If you are into the Phase II part of this trial, you heard evidence, what we call aggravating circumstances, you may hear of mitigating circumstances, you first look at the aggravating circumstances, along with the evidence you learn in the case, and you say, look, this either does or does not warrant the death penalty.

> If you say it doesn't warrant the death penalty, you recommend life and go home. If you say it - you say, well, these circumstances warrant the death penalty, then consider the mitigating you if they circumstances and see are by outweighed the aggravating circumstances.

> If they are not outweighed by the aggravating circumstances, you recommend

-I said that wrong. OK -

Mr. Fitzsimmons: OK.

The Court: Forget that. No. Not really forget that. I got it right. If they are not outweighed by the aggravating circumstances, you would recommend life imprisonment. OK?

So I guess **it** is proper to **say** that the law faces two recommendations towards life.

Do you think you can follow the law under those circumstances and vote for death?

Mr. Fitzsimmons: I am not sure that I could.

The Court: OK.

Ms. Duggan: Motion.

Mr. Boudreau: I would like to ask a question.

The Court: Alright.

Mr. Boudreau: Mr.Fitzsimmons, if - you know, big if, if a man is found guilty of first degree murder and then you go to Phase II and at the Phase II hearing you are presented a bunch of aggravating circumstances that you know about the case from the first trial and other things, and there is nothing in mitigation, and in your mind you think, this is the most grievous capital crime that there are ever to be, and in a situation like that, could you vote for the death penalty if that were what the law directed you to do?

Mr. Fitzsimmons: It is possible that I could under those kinds of circumstances.

Mr. Boudreau: Your Honor, I object to that motion.

The Court: I will grant the motion.

Thereupon juror Fitzsimmons was dismissed.

(R-4598-4602).

The next colloquy is with prospective juror Fred Emmer:

- The Court: Fred Emmer. How are you doing? Fred, how do you feel about the death penalty?
- Mr. Emmer: Well, I need more time to think about it, to be honest about it.
- The Court: OK. What **do** you mean?
- Mr. Emmer: It is a difficult question. In other words, one day I might feel for it; the next day I might feel against it.
- The Court: How much more time are you going to need?
- Mr. Emmer: I don't know. I really don't know.
- The Court: If I ask you tomorrow do you think you will think about it tonight?
- Mr. Emmer: Maybe. I don't know.

8

The Court: Let me get the other question out of the way, and maybe I will have true confessions with you tomorrow. But think about it tonight. Do you understand, first of all, how the death penalty works, as far as a capital case is concerned?

> If you were to find the defendant guilty of first degree murder then you would be asked to vote whether he gets life imprisonment or death.

> And you think about ^{it} tonight and let me know tomorrow.

The other thing is: Have you learned about this case at all through the news media?

- Mr. Emmer: Just a little bit.
- The Court: What have you learned?
- Mr. Emmer: Well, just not too much.
- The Court: It sounds do the facts sound familiar, or the names sound familiar, and that is it?

Mr. Emmer: Yes.

- The Court: Could you decide the case, based upon what you learn in the courtroom and not something that you might have learned on the TV or the radio?
- Mr. Emmer: Say it again.
- The Court: Could you decide this case based upon what you have learned in the courtroom and not someplace else, through the media?
- Mr. Errmer: No. I couldn't decide.
- The Court: You can't decide?
- Ms. Duggan: Motion.
- Mr. Boudreau: I am not sure what it is he knows from the media.
- The Court: He doesn't know what he knows.
- Mr. Boudreau: But he doesn't feel -
- The Court: He says he cannot decide the case based on the evidence. Isn't that correct?
- Mr. Emmer: Yes.
- Mr. Boudreau: Can I ask a couple of questions?
- The Court: Sure.
- Mr. Boudreau: Mr. Emmer, you have heard something in the media about the case?
- Mr. Ernmer: Yes. Just very little.
- Mr. Boudreau: What is it that you recall?
- Mr. Emmer: I don't know.
- The Court: You are not sure?
- Mr. Emmer: I am not sure.
- Mr. Boudreau: The question then is: Regardless of that, when you are sitting on the jury, as a juror in this case, can you decide the case based on what you hear in this courtroom?
- Mr. Emmer: What I would hear in the future?

Mr. Boudreau: Yes, in the courtroom, in the future.

Mr. Emmer: No, it would still - it would be a very hard decision for me to make.

Mr. Boudreau: No one **says it** is **an** easy decision to make. But the question is: Whether anything you have **heard** in **the** past has prejudices you in any way.

Mr. Emmer: No.

Mr. Boudreau: It won't prejudice you?

Mr. Emmer: No.

Mr. Boudreau: That is all I have.

The Court: Do you want to ask him anything Ms. Duggan?

Ms. Duggan: No.

The Court: Do you still have a motion?

Ms. Duggan: Yes.

The Court: Granted.

Mr. Boudreau: I object, Judge.

The Court: OK. Let's grant it.

Thereupon Mr. Emmer was dismissed.

(R-4739-45).

Appellant objected to the excusal for cause of jurors Vers, (R-4591); Fitzsimmons, (R-4600); and Emmer (R-4743).

During the jury selection, it had become apparant that some jurors had knowledge of the facts of the case and had discussed those facts with other jurors and/or in the presence of other jurors. One juror, Ms. Stophel, stated that the jurors had been talking about the case in the jury room. (R4574). Another juror, upon being asked by the Court if he remembered anything about the case, replied that he had, noting several facts of the case. This was juror Seguin. (R-4581-2) Upon learning the juror's discussion about the facts of the case, Appellant's counsel moved to strike the group of ten jurors. (R-4575). The Court denied Appellant's motion. (R-4575).

Further, during the jury selection process, some jurors had raised questions about the felony murder rule and indicated they would have trouble recommending the death penalty where the defendant's involvement was partial or slight. (R-4690). the Court then told the jury:

> Obviously, Look. in a felony murder situation, if you get to the penalty phase, you will consider the extent, as Dr. Nabut, the extent of the persons involvement. And this is a fair consideration for you, to give you, perhaps, the extremes, people that, you know, go in with the intention of committing a robbery, but with the expectation, at least, on the part of one, that there will be no violence, and the other one killed someone. Gee, I didn't even know you had a gun. That is terrible. That is something you ought to take into account. But the other said, let's say, my quy in New York, and the crime is being committed in Miami, and the guy in Miami has a gun, and commits a murder in Miami. The one in New York didn't pull the trigger, but the extent of the involvement that he had is the same. How do you want to view those two people? I don't know. There is - you are the cross section of the community, and it is up to you. (R-4694-5)

To this instruction, Appellant's attorney voiced his objections. (R-4703-4).

Later the Court added:

You know, they have asked me to be sure you

understand that when I was discussing the two individuals, the guy in New York and - he was involved in the robbery, we are talking about the second phase of the trial, the extent of punishment. My remarks are restricted to that, not the issue of guilt or not guilt. OK? (R-4704)

During the state's case, the prosecution never presented any evidence that Appellant ever participated in the crimes, or possess a weapon, or that Appellant had any intention of committing a robbery. The only evidence presented by the state was the Appellant's mere presence at the scene with co-defendant, Leonard Spencer.

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