IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

VERNON AMOS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO, 76,061

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #618550
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT 1</u>: The Federal Constitution does not compel every trial judge to allow a defendant to consult with his lawyer while his testimony is in progress. In the instant case, the recess was short and counsel stated that he wanted to talk to *Amos* about his cross examination, so the trial court did not abuse its discretion in precluding consultation. *Amos* set forth nothing, at trial or on appeal, other than his ongoing testimony, that absolutely had to be discussed over the luncheon recess that could not have been discussed before or after the testimony.

<u>POINT 2</u>: Claims pertaining to questions that were asked on cross examination were waived by failure to object below or to object on the grounds now asserted on appeal. Error cannot be demonstrated regarding the prosecutor's statement during closing argument as no canstitutional protections were in effect since *Amos* was not in custody or under arrest. Even if error occurred it was harmless at worst as the verdict could not have been affected.

<u>POINT 3</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excusing three prospective jurors for cause. The record as a whole supports the trial court's findings, and demonstrates that no venireperson was eliminated who indicated in any way he or **she** could follow the law.

<u>POINT 4</u>: Failure to develop a record **as** to this claim or to put the trial court on notice of any further objections to any of the prospective jurors should constitute a waiver of this issue. In any event, it is clear from the limited questions that were asked

that the jurors did not discuss the specific facts of the case, so there was no abuse of discretion in the way the trial court handled the matter. Reversal is not warranted as Amos has failed to demonstrate that he had to accept an objectionable juror.

The argument on appeal was never presented to the POINT 5: trial court, and in fact it appears that defense counsel agreed with the trial court's statement, so the claim is not cognizable. The claim is also without merit as the trial court was not stating the law on felony murder, but was explaining to the jury that if the case reached a penalty phase, they would be able to consider t.he ext.ent. of the defendant's involvement. in recommending a sentence.

<u>POINT 6</u>: The question at issue was beyond **the** scope of recross examination so the state's objection to it being asked on reredirect was properly sustained and **Amos** has failed to demonstrate an abuse of discretion. Error, if any is harmless at worst.

POINT 7: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to conduct a competency hearing regarding witness Edward Cain. Amos is confusing competency with credibility. Every person is competent to be a witness unless otherwise provided by statute, and competency is fixed when the person is offered as a witness, not when the facts testified to occurred.

POINT 8: Joseph Batchelor was available to both parties so the trial court did not abuse its **discretion in** limiting comment **on** the state's failure to call him as a witness. Error, if any, is harmless.

POINT 9 The photographs were relevant as they were used by the medical examiner, who was qualified as an expert in gunshot wounds, to explain the nature of the injuries, the causes of the deaths, and formed the basis of his opinion as to who was the trigger man. Both victims died of a single gunshot wound, so the photos were not so shocking as to outweigh their relevance.

<u>POINT 10</u>: The trial court correctly declined to instruct the jury on presence. The standard instructions adequately informed the jury of the applicable law and would not permit a finding of guilt predicated on mere presence,

POINT 11: Amos' failure to request a specific instruction, either orally or in writing, constitutes a waiver of this issue. Even if the claim is preserved error has not been demonstrated as the instruction does not accurately state the law and was properly refused.

POINT 12: The trial court correctly denied the motions for judgment of acquittal. The direct evidence presented by the state was sufficient for the jury to determine that Amos intended to commit these crimes and was an active participant in the commission of them; the circumstantial evidence was sufficient for the jury to determine that Amos fired the shot that killed Robert Bragman.

POINT 13: The trial court correctly denied Amos' motion to disqualify him as the motion was untimely and insufficient. The motion was not based on anything that occurred during trial so there was no reason for it not to be filed ten days before the trial began. The motion and affidavits merely stated conclusions, with no factual support, so both were insufficient.

<u>POINT 14</u>: Florida's death penalty statute is constitutional. Most of these claims were not' presented below so are not cognizable on appeal. All are without merit.

<u>POINT 15</u>: The trial court's findings as to aggravating factors are fully supported by the record. The facts clearly demonstrate Robert Bragman was murdered so *Amos* could avoid arrest. The trial court's findings demonstrate there was no improper doubling, but even if the court had weighed both factors it would have been proper. This murder was nothing less than an execution, committed without any pretense of moral or legal justification. Even if this court determines the trial court erred in the finding of any aggravating factor, any error is harmless.

<u>POINT 16</u>: The death sentence is proportional to *Amos'* culpability. Evidence of his participation in all of the events of this crime spree is relevant to that determination, and demonstrates that death is the appropriate penalty.

<u>POINT 17</u>: **The** jury recommended a **life** sentence for the McAninch murder, and pursuant to Florida law the trial court was required to give it great weight, Thus, the death sentence for the Bragman murder is not disproportionate because *Amos* received a life sentence for the McAninch murder.

<u>POINT 18</u>: There was no request for these instructions nor any objection to the instructions as given so the claim has been waived. In any event it is without merit as the jury was instructed on the underlying felonies during the guilt phase and convicted *Amos* of those crimes.

<u>POINT 19</u>: Amos was not denied the effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase. The trial court had rendered extensive findings that counsel was not ineffective and there was no conflict, and these findings were approved by the district court. Amos never set forth any additional grounds to support the substitution of court appointed counsel.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

AMOS WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS A RESULT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S BANNING CONSULTATION BETWEEN HIM AND HIS ATTORNEY DURING A LUNCHEON RECESS CALLED AFTER HIS DIRECT TESTIMONY WAS COMPLETED AND BEFORE HIS CROSS EXAMINATION BEGAN.

Amos contends that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel when the trial court precluded him from consulting his attorney during a one hour' recess which occurred prior to the state's cross examination of him. After Amos finished his direct testimony, the prosecutor requested a luncheon recess, in anticipation of a lengthy cross examination (R 5555-56). Defense counsel objected because it was "only 11:50" (R 5556). The prosecutor requested the trial court to remind Amos not to speak to his attorney since he was on the stand (R 5556). Defense counsel stated:

MR. BOUDREAU: I believe during the break I am, I am not talking about

¹ It is apparent from the record that the recess was only about forty minutes long. When the recess was requested, defense counsel noted it was 11:50, and the record demonstrates that court reconvened at 12:30 (R 5556, 5562).

specifically the questions, but to talk to him about his cross examination.

(R 5557). Defense counsel offered no other reasons for consulting with Amos, Amos made no request to consult with counsel, the cross examination proceeded after the recess with no further objections, and upon completion of Amos' testimony the defense rested. Appellee contends that under the current state of the law, no abuse of discretion has been demonstrated and reversal is not warranted.

In Bova v. State, 392 So.2d 950 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (Boua I), the district court held that a trial court has discretion to order a defendant, who is in the midst of cross examination, to refrain from talking with his attorney about his testimony, and the defendant's Sixth amendment right to counsel was not violated by such action. This court rejected that holding and found that no matter how brief the recess, a defendant in a criminal proceeding must have access to his attorney, but agreed with the district court that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Boua v. State, 410 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1982) (Boua II). Thompson v. State, 507 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 1987), this court reaffirmed its holdings in Bova II as to a defendant's right to consult with his attorney during a recess and the appropriate harmless error analysis to be applied when it is determined there has been a violation of that right.

Two Justices concurred only in the result of *Thompson*, and stated their beliefs that Bova II should be revisited. Justice Ehrlich **noted** that cross examination is critical to the truth

seeking process, that a defendant who makes the decision to take the stand should not be permitted to consult with his attorney at this critical juncture, and but for Bova II he would hold that the trial judge was correct in denying defense counsel's request to consult with his client during a brief recess while he was on the witness stand. Thompson at 1076 (Ehslich, J., concurring in Justice Shaw stated that he would take the result only). opportunity to clarify and correct Boua II, for in his view the Boua I court reached the right result and correctly grounded its decision on the absence of a right to consultation during cross examination and the short duration of the restriction. Thompson at 1076 (Shaw, J., specially concurring in result only). facts of this case again present this court with the opportunity to clarify and correct Boua II, and this court should take that opportunity because since the last time this court addressed this issue, the United States Supreme Court has held that when a defendant becomes a witness, he has no constitutional right to advice during a short recess where it can be presumed that nothing but the testimony will be discussed. Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272, 109 S.Ct. 594, 102 L.Ed.2d 624 (1989).

The *Perry* Court began its analysis by noting, as Justice Shaw had, that the *Geders*² Court had specifically reserved ruling on the question of whether a defendant has a constitutional right to consult with his attorney during a short break during his testimony. The court noted that the line between the facts of

² Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80, 96 S.Ct. **1330**, 47 L.Ed.2d **592 (1976)**.

Geders and the case before it was a thin one, but it was a line of constitutional dimension. The Court found, as the Bova I court, Justice Ehrlich, and Justice Shaw had, that the distinction rested an the fact that when a defendant becomes a witness in his own behalf, he has no constitutional right to consult with his lawyer while he is testifying. The Court also noted how crucial uncounseled cross examination is to the discovery of the truth, and determined that the trial judge must have the power to maintain the status quo during a brief recess where there is a virtual certainty that any conversation between the witness and the lawyer would relate to ongoing testimony. The Court concluded by holding that the Federal Constitution does not compel every trial judge to allow the defendant to consult with his lawyer while his testimony is in progress where the judge has decided there is a good reason to interrupt the trial for a few minutes.

The *Perry* reasoning and holding are applicable to the facts of the instant case. *Amos* was in the process of testifying, and the luncheon recess was less than forty minutes long. Counsel specifically stated that he would talk to *Amos* about his cross examination, so what was a presumption in *Perry*, i.e., during a short recess only testimony will be discussed, is an actual fact in this case. The trial court had extensive experience with *Amos* and counsel in this case, having presided over two of the previous trials, where *Amos* proceeded *pro se* in the first and half of the second. The fact that there had been three previous trials, and no significant developments over the four year period

since these crimes were committed, along with the fact that the defense rested immediately after Amos finished testifying, with no further requests for consultation, certainly indicates that there was nothing to discuss over the luncheon recess but Amos' ongoing testimony, It is also significant that defense counsel objected to taking a lunch recess at that point, as this further indicates that there was no need or desire for consultation on any other matters. Under these circumstances, the trial court did not. abuse its discretion in determining that examination would be more likely to elicit truthful responses if it went forward without allowing Amos an opportunity to consult with his attorney. Perry, 109 S.Ct. at 601.

A virtually identical situation was presented in People v. Enrique, 566 N.Y.S.2d 201 (A.D. 1 Dept. 1991). There, a luncheon recess was declared during the defendant's cross examination. After the jurors left, defense counsel asked if he could speak to the defendant. The trial court replied that it was within his discretion to prohibit consultation, but told counsel that if he wished to tell the court what he wanted to say, or how long he would like to say it, the court might entertain it. counsel replied that he would rather not reveal that information, and the trial court prohibited consultation. After the recess, the court asked if there were any further comments on its ruling, and defense counsel stated he still did not want to get into what he wanted to discuss with his client, but one topic was a procedural item on how to conduct himself as a witness, a substantive matter involving something was

defendant had not testified to earlier but nothing he anticipated would be raised in the future. The trial court stated he did not believe it was appropriate for counsel to discuss with his client anything with regard to the anticipated line of questioning, and cross examination continued.

On direct appeal, the defendant argued that he was deprived of effective assistance of counsel as a result of the court's injunction to counsel not to speak to him during the luncheon recess called during the midst of cross examination. The court observed that the Perry decision was based on a principle of basic fairness, i.e., once a defendant exercises his right to testify, he should generally be subject to the same truth seeking rules as are applied to other witnesses. The court found it significant that the trial court had imposed the ban only because he found it would be inappropriate for counsel to discuss the defendant's examination, and counsel's response pending cross demonstrated that those concerns were justified. The court thus determined that the ruling had a firmer basis than the mere presumption that counsel wauld discuss the testimony, which the Perry Court had found to be sufficient. The court held that the luncheon recess was the type of limited interruption during a defendant's testimony to which Perry, and not Geders applied. Likewise, in the instant case, where the recess was short and counsel stated that he wanted to talk to Amos about his cross examination, the trial court's directive was not an abuse of discretion. See also, Narayan v. Scully, 741 F. Supp. 377 (E.D.N.Y. 1990).

Amos also baldly asserts that he was denied "his right guaranteed under the Florida Constitution" (IB 23), but argues nothing in support of this and appellee contends that any such claim is not cognizable. Appellee would also note that the line of Florida cases addressing this issue has been based on the Federal Constitution, and specifically the Geders interpretation of it. Since Amos fails to offer any convincing reason for establishing a state constitutional rule different from the federal one, and precedent demonstrates that the Florida courts have never drawn such a distinction, no independent state rule should be established. See, Enrique, supra, where the court found no reason to reject the federal constitutional standard set forth in Perry.

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